



IOTC-2025-TCMP09-R[E]

## Report of the 9<sup>th</sup> IOTC Technical Committee on **Management Procedures**

Reunion, France, 12 April 2025

DISTRIBUTION:	BIBLIOGRAPHIC ENTRY
Participants in the Session Members of the Commission Other interested Nations and International Organisations FAO Fisheries Department FAO Regional Fishery Officers	IOTC-TCMP09 2025. Report of the 9 <sup>th</sup> IOTC Technical Committee on Management Procedures. Reunion 12 April 2025. IOTC-2025-TCMP09-R[E]: 21pp.

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication and its lists do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Indian Ocean Tuna Commission (IOTC) or the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations concerning the legal or development status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

This work is copyright. Fair dealing for study, research, news reporting, criticism or review is permitted. Selected passages, tables or diagrams may be reproduced for such purposes provided acknowledgment of the source is included. Major extracts or the entire document may not be reproduced by any process without the written permission of the Executive Secretary, IOTC.

The Indian Ocean Tuna Commission has exercised due care and skill in the preparation and compilation of the information and data set out in this publication. Notwithstanding, the Indian Ocean Tuna Commission, employees and advisers disclaim all liability, including liability for negligence, for any loss, damage, injury, expense or cost incurred by any person as a result of accessing, using or relying upon any of the information or data set out in this publication to the maximum extent permitted by law.

#### Contact details:

Indian Ocean Tuna Commission Blend Seychelles PO Box 1011 Providence, Mahé, Seychelles Ph: +248 4225 494

Fax: +248 4224 364

Email: IOTC-secretariat@fao.org
Website: http://www.iotc.org

#### **ACRONYMS**

BET Bigeye Tuna

BMSY Biomass that achieves maximum sustainable yield

CMM Conservation and Management Measure (of the IOTC; Resolutions and Recommendations)

CPCs Contracting parties and cooperating non-contracting parties

EU European Union

FAO Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

IOTC Indian Ocean Tuna Commission MP Management Procedure

MPD Management Procedures Dialogue
 MSE Management Strategy Evaluation
 MSY Maximum Sustainable Yield
 SC Scientific Committee, of the IOTC

SSB Spawning stock biomass

SPC Secretariat of the Pacific Community

tRFMO tuna Regional Fisheries Management Organization

TAC Total Allowable Catch

TCMP Technical Committee on Management Procedures

WP Working Party of the IOTC

WPB Working Party on Billfish of the IOTC

WPEB Working Party on Ecosystems and Bycatch of the IOTC

WPM Working Party on Methods of the IOTC
WPNT Working Party on Neritic Tunas of the IOTC

WPDCS Working Party on Data Collection and Statistics of the IOTC

WPTmT Working Party on Temperate Tunas of the IOTC WPTT Working Party on Tropical Tunas of the IOTC

YFT Yellowfin Tuna

# STANDARDISATION OF IOTC WORKING PARTY AND SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE REPORT TERMINOLOGY

SC16.07 (para. 23) The SC **ADOPTED** the reporting terminology contained in Appendix IV and **RECOMMENDED** that the Commission considers adopting the standardised IOTC Report terminology, to further improve the clarity of information sharing from, and among its subsidiary bodies.

#### How to interpret terminology contained in this report

#### Level 1: From a subsidiary body of the Commission to the next level in the structure of the Commission:

**RECOMMENDED, RECOMMENDATION**: Any conclusion or request for an action to be undertaken, from a subsidiary body of the Commission (Committee or Working Party), which is to be formally provided to the next level in the structure of the Commission for its consideration/endorsement (e.g. from a Working Party to the Scientific Committee; from a Committee to the Commission). The intention is that the higher body will consider the recommended action for endorsement under its own mandate if the subsidiary body does not already have the required mandate. Ideally this should be task specific and contain a timeframe for completion.

## Level 2: From a subsidiary body of the Commission to a CPC, the Secretariat, or other body (not the Commission) to carry out a specified task:

**REQUESTED**: This term should only be used by a subsidiary body of the Commission if it does not wish to have the request formally adopted/endorsed by the next level in the structure of the Commission. For example, if a committee wishes to seek additional input from a CPC on a particular topic but does not wish to formalise the request beyond the mandate of the Committee, it may request that a set action be undertaken. Ideally this should be task specific and contain a timeframe for the completion.

#### Level 3: General terms to be used for consistency:

**AGREED**: Any point of discussion from a meeting which the IOTC body considers to be an agreed course of action covered by its mandate, which has not already been dealt with under Level 1 or level 2 above; a general point of agreement among delegations/participants of a meeting which does not need to be considered/adopted by the next level in the Commission's structure.

**NOTED/NOTING**: Any point of discussion from a meeting which the IOTC body considers to be important enough to record in a meeting report for future reference.

**Any other term:** Any other term may be used in addition to the Level 3 terms to highlight to the readers of IOTC reports the importance of the relevant paragraph. However, other terms used are considered for explanatory/informational purposes only and shall have no higher rating within the reporting terminology hierarchy than Level 3, described above (e.g. **CONSIDERED**; **URGED**; **ACKNOWLEDGED**).

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACRONYMS	3
STANDARDISATION OF IOTC WORKING PARTY AND SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE REPORT TERMINOLOGY	4
Table of contents	5
Executive summary	6
1. Opening of the meeting	6
2. Adoption of the agenda and arrangements for the session	7
3. Admission of observers	7
4. Decisions of the Commission related to the work of the TCMP	8
4.1. Outcomes of the 8th Session of the TCMP	8
6. Status of the management strategy evaluation/management procedure and actions needed adoption/implementation	
6.1. Albacore tuna	9
6.2. Bigeye tuna	10
6.3. Swordfish	12
6.4. General issues	12
6.4.1. MP implementation, actions and regular implementation review	12
7. Future direction of the technical committee on management procedures	12
7.1. Workplan	12
7.1.1. New Timelines	12
7.1.2. Budget and resources needed for technical development	13
7.1.3. External review	13
7.2. Priorities	13
7.3. Process and future meetings of TCMP	13
8. Adoption of the Report	14
Appendix I List of participants	15
APPENDIX II AGENDA FOR THE 9 <sup>TH</sup> IOTC TECHNICAL COMMITTEE ON MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE	20
Appendix III List of documents	21

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The ninth Technical Committee on Management Procedures meeting was held on the 12 April 2025 in Reunion, France. The meeting was held in a hybrid format, with delegations present physically in the meeting room, and some participants attending by videoconference. The meeting was chaired by Dr Toshihide Kitakado (chair of the IOTC Scientific Committee). The Chair **NOTED** that Ms Jung-re Riley Kim (Chair of the IOTC), could not co-chair the meeting as initially intended. However, she offered online assistance virtually. The Chair welcomed 105 delegates from 25 Contracting Parties of the Commission and 10 Observers (including the invited experts) to the session.

TCMP.Rec.01 (Para. 34). The TCMP **NOTED** that the application of the bigeye management procedure generated an unconstrained estimated TAC of 175,005 t which is more than 15% higher than the TAC set for 2024 and 2025. The TCMP **NOTED** that by applying the maximum 15% increase in the TAC as per Resolution 22/03, the MP recommended an annual TAC of 92,670 t for 2026-2028. Therefore, the TCMP **RECOMMENDED** that the Commission adopt the TAC advice for Bigeye tuna of 92,670 t resulting from the MP.

TCMP.Rec.02 (Para. 46). The TCMP **RECOMMENDED** adopting Australia's proposal (IOTC-2025-S29-PropU) to amend the swordfish MP (as specified in Resolution 24/08), to ensure the current objective of at least 60% probability of being in Kobe green zone is met during 2034-2038. This involves a minor amendment to the Target CPUE in Annex I of Res 24/08, changing it from 0.7125 to 0.75. Further, the TCMP **RECOMMENDED** that the Commission establish a TAC (30527 t) for swordfish for 2026-2028 based on the revised MP **NOTING** that this TAC is the same as that from the original MP.

## 1. Opening of the meeting

1. The ninth Technical Committee on Management Procedures meeting was held on the 12 April 2025 in Reunion, France. The meeting was held in a hybrid format, with delegations present physically in the meeting room, and some participants attending by videoconference. The meeting was chaired by Dr Toshihide Kitakado (chair of

the IOTC Scientific Committee). The Chair **NOTED** that Ms Jung-re Riley Kim (Chair of the IOTC), could not cochair the meeting as initially intended. However, she offered online assistance virtually.

- 2. The Chair welcomed attendees and opened the meeting. Mr. Kitakado highlighted the critical importance of developing Management Procedures to guide IOTC members in governing key species under the Commission's purview. He acknowledged the significant progress achieved in Management Strategy Evaluation and the development of Management Procedures through collaborative efforts among members. This progress has led to the successful adoption of Management Procedures for several major IOTC species in recent years. The Chair further stressed the need to maintain this momentum and continue advancing MSE through open dialogue and collaboration.
- 3. The Chair welcomed 105 delegates from 25 Contracting Parties of the Commission and 10 Observers (including the invited experts) to the session. The list of participants is provided in <a href="Appendix I">Appendix I</a>

### 2. Adoption of the agenda and arrangements for the session

- 4. The Chair **NOTED** that TCMP was established to improve the mutual understanding and effective communication between science and management, as well as to facilitate the commission's decision-making process on issues pertaining to management procedures. To this end, scientists reported on their progress in developing and assessing management procedures for the major Indian Ocean tuna stocks, following the guidelines outlined in Resolution 15/10 and the related workplan that the Commission approved.
- 5. The adopted agenda for the meeting is presented in <u>Appendix II</u>. The documents presented to the TCMP are listed in <u>Appendix III</u>.

#### 3. Admission of observers

6. Pursuant to Article VII of the Agreement establishing the IOTC, the TCMP09 admitted the following observers, as defined in Rule XIV of the IOTC Rules of Procedure (2023):

Non-governmental Organisations (NGO)

- BLOOM
- CCSBT
- DSM-Deutsche Stiftung Meeresschutz
- IPNLF-International Pole and Line Foundation
- ISSF-International Seafood Sustainability Foundation
- PEW Charitable Trusts
- Sustainable Fisheries and Communities Trusts
- TOF-The Ocean Foundation
- World Wide Fund For Nature

#### **Invited Experts**

Taiwan, Province of China

#### 4. Decisions of the Commission related to the work of the TCMP

#### 4.1. Outcomes of the 8th Session of the TCMP

7. The TCMP were informed of the main outcomes of the 8th Technical Committee on Management Procedures (<u>IOTC-2025-TCMP09-03</u>), included in the paragraphs below:

(Para. 26) Considering that all Skipjack MPs tested show good performance with respect to stock status (e.g., all showing stock biomass above the LRP with high probability) and little difference among them in other performances measures under the reference set, the TCMP **NOTED** that all MPs ensure the skipjack will be managed within safe biological limits. Therefore, the TCMP **RECOMMENDED** the Commission to consider for adoption the EU proposal for the MP that has the following properties: (i) 50% probability of being at the skipjack target reference point in 2034-2038 (i.e., 40% BO), (ii) the stable type MP parameterisation, and (iii) an asymmetric TAC change clause.

(Para. 27) The TCMP **NOTED** that increased catches of skipjack will also affect yellowfin and bigeye stocks which are overfished and subject to overfishing. The TCMP **RECOMMENDED** that the SC investigate and incorporate ecosystem effects in the next skipjack revision of the MP since the fishery of skipjack will impact catches in other species, such as yellowfin, bigeye, and sharks.

(Para. 28) Moreover, considering that in the past skipjack catches have been greater than the recommended limits, the TCMP **RECOMMENDED** the Commission to take the necessary actions to ensure that catches do not exceed the TAC when the MP is applied.

(Para. 44) After considering the performance and trade-off between management objectives of the six candidate management procedures of swordfish, the TCMP **RECOMMENDED** the Commission to consider for adoption the Australian proposal for a swordfish MP: MP1 or MP2. These have the following properties: a fast reacting, data-based type MP, with either 60% (MP1) or 70% (MP2) probability of being at the target reference point in 2034-2038.

(Para. 45) The TCMP also NOTED that changes in swordfish catch will also affect other species, particularly shark species. The TCMP RECOMMENDED that the SC investigate and incorporate ecosystem effects in the next swordfish revision of the MP.

(Para. 56) Considering the progress on MSE for IOTC species, the TCMP **RECOMMENDED** that a virtual TCMP be convened early in 2025 with a special focus on albacore tuna if the SC agrees that sufficient progress has been made, and a one-day TCMP be convened back-to-back with the Commission's Session in 2025. The TCMP also **RECOMMENDED** that the WPM(MSE) be held in March/April, and that the next TCMP meeting should include a capacity building component, taking into considerations of the options suggested by the small Working Group.

- 8. The TCMP **NOTED** that these recommendations were subsequently endorsed by the Commission. Additionally, the proposals for the skipjack and swordfish Management Procedures were adopted as binding resolutions.
- 9. The TCMP also **NOTED** the information document <u>IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF02</u>, which summarises the outcome of the MSE Task Force meeting held from February 24. The meeting discussed progress on Albacore tuna and the running of the bigeye tuna management procedure in accordance with requests from SC27.

### 5. Introduction to MSE and presentation of MSE results

10. The TCMP **NOTED** a presentation by the Chair, which outlined the fundamental principles of the MSE process and the communication of its outcomes. The presentation detailed essential elements of MSE procedures, including the differences between model-based and data-based management approaches, tuning criteria

aligned with management objectives, and components such as TAC change constraint and time lags in TAC implementation. Additionally, he highlighted the importance of regular assessments of exceptional circumstances related to the implementation of the management procedure. The Chair also encourages the use of the Concept mapping approach to enhance the understanding of relationship between various MSE elements.

- 11. The TCMP **NOTED** the informational document <u>IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF01</u>, which is the Educational Tools developed for MSE Capacity Building, funded by an Australian grant (also available at <a href="https://iotc.org/educational-tools">https://iotc.org/educational-tools</a>).
- 12. The TCMP **NOTED** the informational document <u>IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF07</u>, which provides a summary of the MSE capacity-building workshop held in the Maldives from August 26 to 28, 2024. The TCMP **NOTED** that the workshop was requested by the Commission and focused on training fishery managers from coastal countries in the fundamental aspects of the MSE process. Organized by the Maldivian government with financial support from the World Bank, ISSF, PEW, and the Ocean Foundation, the workshop was attended by 35 participants from 15 countries and 4 experts, representing a wide range of roles and expertise. This workshop aims to enhance the ability of coastal states to engage more effectively in MSE discussions and MP evaluations during TCMP and Commission meetings in the future.
- 13. The TCMP **THANKED** the organizers and sponsors for their efforts and resources in making this workshop possible. The TCMP **NOTED** that the informal setting and arrangement provided an excellent opportunity for fishery managers and stakeholders to share a diverse range of perspectives on fishery management issues. Additionally, the hands-on exercises using simulation tools were highly effective in facilitating the understanding of MSE concepts. Recognizing that the composition of negotiating teams in CPCs often changes frequently, the TCMP **AGREED** that regularly conducting such exercises through refresher courses would enhance the MSE capacity of coastal countries.

# 6. Status of the management strategy evaluation/management procedure and actions needed for adoption/implementation

#### 6.1. Albacore tuna.

14. The TCMP **NOTED** the presentation of paper <u>IOTC-2025-TCMP09-04</u>, which provides an update on further MP simulation testing for Indian Ocean albacore tuna, including the following summary provided by the authors.

"The development of Management Strategy Evaluation (MSE) analyses for Indian ocean albacore is about to embark on its final phase. An updated set of operating Models (OMs) has been conditioned applying a novel methodological approach that has solved the problems encountered with the previous set, based directly on the stock assessment. Some technical difficulties have delayed the evaluation of candidate Management Procedures (MPs), which still require a round of review by the Working Party on Methods of IOTC before being ready for presentation to TCMP. The current document reports on the main features of the approach taken when conditioning OMs for this stock, presents some initial results, and indicates the next steps of work. The feedback of TCMP is required of the planned set of management objectives to be explored."

- 15. The TCMP **NOTED** in the presentation that the new methodology is based on the development of a new method the Approximate Bayesian Computation (ABC) that has been **ENDORSED** by the SC.
- 16. The TCMP **NOTED** the considerable work done by Wageningen Marine Research (WMR, Netherlands) and CSIRO (AUS), that was co-funded by the IOTC and the Australian Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT, AUS).
- 17. The TCMP **NOTED** the methods around conditioning the OMs for the MP. There are several axes of uncertainty that the OMs incorporate: CPUE data, the influence of size data on estimates, the impact of assumptions on catchability changes in LL fleets, S-R steepness and natural mortality, and recruitment variability.
- 18. The TCMP **NOTED** that the ABC methods are similar to those used in the first SKJ MSE, and the ABC methodology uses discrepancy functions rather than likelihood. The TCMP **NOTED** that discrepancy functions allow the differences between the dynamics generated by the OM and the data to be characterised, providing a flexible approach when quantifying uncertainty. The TCMP also **NOTED** that the ABC methodology allows the use of priors on many quantities, such as stock status, overfishing probability, and others as informed by the stock assessment, and can allow for overfishing penalties on runs with unrealistic depletion.

- 19. The TCMP **NOTED** that the OMs are concerned with characterising current cohorts of fish, and not the entire history of the fishery. Therefore, the OMs are conditioned with the previous 21 years (2000-2021) data from the longline CPUE, total catch by fishery, and catch-at-length by fishery, aggregated over time. The TCMP **NOTED** that these are structurally simple models than the current stock assessment (for example using a smaller number of fleets) model as the OMs are not concerned with providing precise estimates of current stock status, but characterise their uncertainty.
- 20. The TCMP NOTED the robustness trials that have been done so far, including low and high (30%) future recruitment compared to historical levels; greater spasmodic recruitment (more intense increases and decreases); different levels of precision and bias in the CPUE indices; and various climate change scenarios (increased growth, earlier maturity, reduced maximum size). The TCMP DISCUSSED additional climate change scenarios relating to the spatial redistribution of the stock and NOTED that these could be investigated at a later stage if data allows.
- 21. The TCMP **NOTED** the two current MPs: a model-free MP using the trend and value of longline CPUE from areas 1 and/or 3; and a model-based MP using a surplus-production model, a Pella-Tomlinson model as implemented in the JABBA software. Both candidate MPs would use a catch-based hockey-stick HCR that has a 'buffer' zone around the desired CPUE or SSB/SSBO and the management output is either a TAC (catch) multiplier or an absolute value of TAC (not originally included as is in SKJ MP). The TCMP **NOTED** that when the stock is estimated to be in the 'buffer' zone, catch is maintained at the target level (i.e. a catch multiplier of one), otherwise there is a linear decrease in catch down to a 'threshold' value of CPUE or SSB/SSBO when the catch multiplier decreases exponentially. The HCR allows the catch multiplier to increase linearly if the indicator increases above the 'buffer'.
- 22. The TCMP **DISCUSSED** the addition of another MP that used a traditional hockey-stick rule where the catch only reduces when the biomass is below the threshold (as in the SKJ MP). The TCMP **NOTED** that the proposed hockey-stick rule was shown with a y-axis of 'catch multiplier' and not an absolute value for catch. The TCMP **AGREED** to include an additional MP that is the same as SKJ where the y-axis is catch as opposed to a catch multiplier to allow for an understanding of absolute values of catch that the MP recommends.
- 23. The TCMP **NOTED** that the MPs have included various assumptions including: limits to the TAC increases of 15 and 30%, and a minimum catch set at 10% of MSY as agreed during the TCMP in 2022; a data and management decision lag of three years.
- 24. The TCMP **DISCUSSED** the tuning objectives, the three scenarios for P(Kobe=Green) of 50%, 60%, and 70%, and the proposed MPs. There was some discussion as to whether the P(Kobe=Green) = 50% was still needed, and some countries suggested it could be removed from the scenarios. However, it was **AGREED** that all three scenarios should be retained in the tuning of the MPs to provide the TCMP with estimates of potential loses of catches with each of the scenarios.
- 25. The TCMP **AGREED** to the presented timeline for the continuation of the work.

#### 6.2. Bigeye tuna.

- 26. The TCMP **NOTED** Information paper <u>IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF03</u>, which provides Joint CPUE indices for the bigeye tuna in the Indian Ocean based on Japanese, Korean and Taiwanese longline fisheries for use in MP application, <u>IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF04</u>, which runs the IOTC Bigeye Tuna Management Procedure for 2024, and <u>IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF05</u>, which provides an update on Consideration of Exceptional Circumstances for the Bigeye Tuna MP 2025. These papers were reviewed during the Special Session of the SC in February 2025.
- 27. The TCMP **NOTED** that Resolution 22/03 on a bigeye management procedure includes an adopted Management Procedure (MP) schedule that requires the MP to be run by the IOTC Scientific Committee in 2024, through the Working Party on Methods and Working Party on Tropical Tunas, including a review of exceptional circumstances, to derive a recommended TAC for 2026, 2027 and 2028 for IOTC Commission consideration.
- 28. The TCMP **RECALLED** that the bigeye MP uses a 60% tuning criteria for the production model-based MP and applies a 15% constraint on the maximum change to the TAC. The TCMP **NOTED** that the MP relies on the catch time series as well as the joint CPUE series.

- 29. The TCMP **NOTED** that a standardised catch per unit effort (CPUE) index based on the agreed methodology (as per Resolution 22/03) was not available to run the bigeye (BET) Tuna MP in 2024 in time for the Scientific Committee to review. As agreed and recommended by the SC in 2024, the joint CPUE group responsible for producing the index held their meeting in February 2025, and produced the BET CPUE index which was presented to the WPM(MSE) Taskforce meeting in February 2025 (IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF03) which reviewed this and ran the BET MP (IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF04). The TCMP **NOTED** that the Special Session of the SC then convened in February to review the outcomes of the MP run.
- 30. The TCMP **NOTED** that the joint CPUE trend this year was developed using operational level data, whereas the series in 2022 was aggregated without the use of operational data as a result of the constraints imposed by the pandemic. The TCMP further **NOTED** there were some minor methodological changes from the agreed CPUE specifications of the MP (i.e., the use of lognormal instead of delta model due to time constraints and the exclusion of some data), however, the TCMP **NOTED** that it follows the CPUE standardisation approach as adopted in the bigeye MP.
- 31. The TCMP **NOTED** that previously the Biomass to carrying capacity ratio was smaller than 40% of the carrying capacity so the full fishing intensity wasn't applied. However, the TCMP **NOTED** that during this recent MP run the biomass was above this 40% of the target so the full fishing intensity was applied.
- 32. The TCMP **NOTED** that similar trends were observed in the CPUE during the 2019 and 2022 runs in all regions. The TCMP **NOTED** that while there was a slight difference in the estimation of the CPUE series, the main differences are likely to be derived from the data used (operational vs. aggregated). The TCMP **NOTED** that any large changes in CPUE are investigated through the examination of exceptional circumstances
- 33. The TCMP **NOTED** that the 2025 CPUE series shows similar trends to the 2022 CPUE during the historical period from 1979-2018. However, the TCMP **NOTED** that the 2025 CPUE series raised slightly above the 95% confidence interval which can have the impact of a higher TAC resulting from the MP. The TCMP **NOTED** that the impact of this is buffered by the constraint of a maximum 15% change to the TAC which is applied in the MP.
- 34. The TCMP **NOTED** that the application of the bigeye management procedure generated an unconstrained estimated TAC of 175,005 t which is more than 15% higher than the TAC set for 2024 and 2025. The TCMP **NOTED** that by applying the maximum 15% increase in the TAC as per Resolution 22/03, the MP recommended an annual TAC of 92,670 t for 2026-2028. Therefore, the TCMP **RECOMMENDED** that the Commission adopt the TAC advice for Bigeye tuna of 92,670 t resulting from the MP.
- 35. The TCMP **NOTED** the large difference between the previous TAC and this new recommended TAC. The TCMP **NOTED** that the CPUE series has a primary effect in the outputs of the MP and the increasing trend observed in the recent 3 years of the CPUE series will be driving this increased TAC due to the optimistic abundance trend observed in the CPUE. The TCMP further **NOTED** that catches in recent years have also been increasing which (along with the CPUE trend) the model would have interpreted as an increase in biomass.
- 36. The TCMP **NOTED** that the CPUE is within the MSE range investigated for the recent years 2021-2023. However, the TCMP also **NOTED** a positive exceptional circumstance because the CPUE is above the expected range of values in 2019 and 2020 and was slightly outside the range of values tested during the MSE process, which may have an impact of a slightly higher TAC resulting from the MP. However, the TMCP **NOTED** that the constraint in the MP on a TAC change of 15% will act to constrain any excessive response to these higher CPUE values to ensure that a conservative TAC is recommended.
- 37. The TCMP **NOTED** that a wide range of unconstrained TACs were generated in the MSE testing of the MP, with the upper TAC change constraint (15%) being triggered frequently. The TMCP also **NOTED** that the 2025 unconstrained TAC was within the range generated in the MSE testing, and that the 15% maximum TAC change acts as an important buffer to maintain a more stable TAC setting process.
- 38. The TCMP **ACKNOWLEDGED** the hard work done by members of the joint CPUE working group and members of the MSE task force for developing the updated CPUE series and running and reviewing the bigeye MP.
- 39. The TCMP **NOTED** that two CPC have developed a proposed Resolution (prop F) on establishing catch limits for bigeye tuna in the IOTC based on the recommended TAC of 92,670 t.
- 40. The TCMP **ENCOURAGED** the SC to finalise the results of the bigeye in 2027 so that managers have plenty of time to consider the results ahead of the TCMP and Commission meetings in 2028.

41. The TCMP **NOTED** that the 15% constraint for the stability clause was applied in 2025 due to the high estimated TAC. The TCMP **NOTED** that if this were to happen repeatedly, the Commission may request the SC to investigate this in more detail to ensure that the MP is running correctly. The TCMP further **NOTED** the inclusion of this constraint in the running of the MP could not be removed without amending the current Resolution.

#### 6.3. Swordfish

- 42. The TCMP **NOTED** Information Paper <u>IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF08</u>, which proposed a revision of Resolution 24/08 concerning the swordfish Management Procedure. This proposal aims to incorporate a recommendation from the Scientific Committee to make a minor adjustment to the Swordfish MP to ensure the procedure meets the Commission's objective of maintaining at least a 60% probability of the stock being in the Kobe green zone between 2034 and 2038.
- 43. The TCMP **NOTED** that the 2024 Working Party on Methods found that the MSE simulations for MP performance used simulated CPUE data instead of actual data from 2020-2022, which was intended for the period prior to the first TAC cycle of 2023-2025 (refer to <u>IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF06</u> for details).
- 44. The investigation by the MSE developers revealed that using actual CPUE data from 2020-2022 slightly affects the performance of the MP, leading to a somewhat higher exploitation level and reduced stock size. However, it decreases the probability of being in the Kobe green zone to 54%, below the Commission's target of 60% (Resolution 24/08). Furthermore, the original MSE assumed a one-year management lag, while in practice, a two-year management lag is more accurate, both of which were tested during the MSE.
- 45. To resolve this issue, the MP was retuned using the observed CPUE values and appropriate management lag to achieve a 60% probability of being in the Kobe green zone. The TCMP **NOTED** that both the WPM and the SC found the overall performance of the recalibrated MP to be comparable to the currently adopted MP.
- 46. The TCMP **RECOMMENDED** adopting Australia's proposal (IOTC-2025-S29-PropU) to amend the swordfish MP (as specified in Resolution 24/08), to ensure the current objective of at least 60% probability of being in Kobe green zone is met during 2034-2038. This involves a minor amendment to the Target CPUE in Annex I of Res 24/08, changing it from 0.7125 to 0.75. Further, the TCMP **RECOMMENDED** that the Commission establish a TAC (30527 t) for swordfish for 2026-2028 based on the revised MP **NOTING** that this TAC is the same as that from the original MP.

#### 6.4. General issues

#### 6.4.1. MP implementation, actions and regular implementation review

- 47. The TCMP **NOTED** the MP implementation schedules for bigeye tuna, skipjack tuna and swordfish are outlined in respective resolutions. The WPM and SC has discussed the roles and responsibilities in the MP implementation. The Secretariat has been tasked with running the MP, with the assistance of relevant developer. The WPM also agreed to a process in which the WPM chair will coordinate with CPCs, institutions, and scientists and conduct evaluations of exceptional circumstances.
- 48. The TCMP **NOTED** the evaluation of MPs will occur in 2030 to ensure that the current MPs are performing well and achieving what they have set out to do.
- 49. The TCMP **NOTED** that the SC has recommended a process to reinitiate the MSE for YFT and the Chair of WPTT provided information on the status of the development of YFT MSE. The TCMP **was informed** that the first round of OMs for YFT MPs are planned to be presented at the WPM. The TCMP **NOTED** the provision of funding from the ISSF to allow for this work to be developed.

## 7. Future direction of the technical committee on management procedures

#### 7.1. Workplan

#### 7.1.1. New Timelines

The TCMP AGREED the MSE timeline put together by the WPM and presented by the Chair.

- 51. The TCMP **NOTED** that in 2025 the WPM and SC will work on progressing the MP for albacore tuna with the aim of having a range of candidate MPs available for review by the TCMP in 2026. However, the TCMP **NOTED** that the MP may require further conditioning, particularly if the outputs from the OM are very different from those from the assessment that will be conducted by the WPTmT this year.
- 52. The TCMP **NOTED** that work on the MSE for blue shark has been included in the WPM workplan. The TCMP **ENCOURAGED** this work, **NOTING** that blue shark is an important stock and it is important to manage this stock sustainably.

#### 7.1.2. Budget and resources needed for technical development

- 53. The TCMP **NOTED** that as the MPs for skipjack, swordfish and bigeye tuna have been adopted, there are no imminent funding needs to address outstanding issues.
- 54. The TCMP **NOTED** that the ongoing work on the albacore and new work on the blue shark MSE have been included in the WPM program of work, so funding is available from the IOTC budget for these activities. The TCMP further **NOTED** that the EU has pledged funding that will support the ongoing MSE work so further funding should not be required for these upcoming projects.

#### 7.1.3. External review

- 55. The TCMP **NOTED** that an external consultant has been contracted to conduct the bigeye MSE review. The TCMP **NOTED** that good progress has been made, preliminary results have been presented to the MSE task force which provided good feedback.
- 56. The TCMP **NOTED** that the final review is expected to be presented to the WPM in October.

#### 7.2. Priorities

- 57. The TCMP **NOTED** that as albacore is likely to be the next species for which a MP will be adopted, this is the highest priority for ongoing work. The TCMP **NOTED** that after albacore, yellowfin and blue shark will be the next highest priorities.
- 58. The TCMP **NOTED** that while recent studies have suggested that there may be multiple stocks of yellowfin tuna in the Indian Ocean, the MSE will consider only a single stock initially. The TCMP **NOTED** that the initial work will focus on conditioning of the OM based on the stock assessment models from 2021 and 2024 and will look at hypotheses regarding data and growth parameters.

### 7.3. Process and future meetings of TCMP

- 59. The TCMP **NOTED** that the SCAF discussed the possibility of holding the TCMP online intersessionally in years where the adoption of a new MP is unlikely **NOTING** that moving this meeting online would save both time and funds. The TCMP **NOTED** that this would require a revision of Resolution 16/09 which provides the Terms of Reference for the TCMP.
- 60. The TCMP **NOTED** that as the albacore MP is likely to be recommended for adoption by the SC next year, it would be advisable to hold an in-person meeting in 2026. The TCMP further **NOTED** that in years that a MP has not been recommended for adoption, the TCMP may still be required to consider exceptional circumstances.
- 61. The TCMP **NOTED** the value of having flexibility to accommodate different situations each year. Noting that Resolution 16/09 currently requires the TCMP to be held back-to-back with the Commission meeting. TCMP suggested that the Commission consider an amendment to the Resolution 16/09 that would allow TCMP meetings to be held, when appropriate, intersessionally and online. Under that arrangement, TCMP considered that in any given year, the Commission would (under advice of the SC Chair) indicate its preferred date and nature (online or in person) of the following years TCMP. However it would also allow for the SC (following the Commission) to request a change to the Commissions suggested approach if SC discussions identified subsequent circumstances associated with development and review of MPs that warranted such a change

8. Adoption of the Report The report of the 9th IOTC Technical Committee on Management Procedures meeting (IOTC-2025-TCMP09-R) was **ADOPTED** on 12 April 2025

# APPENDIX I LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

#### **CHAIRPERSON**

Mr Toshihide Kitakado Tokyo University of Marine Science and Technology kitakado@kaiyodai.ac.jp

#### **CHAIRPERSON S29**

Ms Riley Jung-Re riley1126@korea.kr

## AUSTRALIA Head of Delegation

Mr George Day Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry George.day@aff.gov.au

#### **Alternate**

Mr Patrick Sachs
Department of Agriculture,
Fisheries and Forestry
Patrick.sachs@aff.gov.au

#### Advisor(s)

Dr Don Bromhead
Australian Bureau of
Agricultural and Resource
Economics and Sciences
Don.Bromhead@aff.gov.au

Mr Fraser McEachan
Australian Fisheries
Management Authority
fraser.mceachan@afma.gov
.au

Mr Terry Romaro OAM Ship Agencies Australia terry@saa.com.au

### BANGLADESH Head of Delegation

Mr Mohammad Tanvir Chowdhury Ministry of Fisheries and Livestock

tanvir h1998@yahoo.com

#### **CHINA**

#### **Head of Delegation**

Ms Huiying Zhang
Ministry of Agriculture and
Rural Affairs
bofdwf@126.com

#### Advisor(s)

Mr Jiangfeng Zhu Shanghai Ocean University jfzhu@shou.edu.

Ms Huihui Shen
Shanghai Ocean University
<a href="https://hhshen@shou.edu.cn">hhshen@shou.edu.cn</a>

Ms Yanan Li Shanghai Ocean University liyananxiada@yeah.net

Ms Qiuning Li
China Overseas Fisheries
Association
liqiuning@cofa.net.cn

Ms Yan Li
China Overseas Fisheries
Association
<a href="mailto:livan@cofa.net.cn">livan@cofa.net.cn</a>

#### **COMOROS**

Absent

## EUROPEAN UNION Head of Delegation

Mr Marco Valletta
DG MARE, B2
marco.valletta@ec.europa.
eu

#### **Alternate**

Mr Gorka Merino AZTI gmerino@azti.es

#### Advisor(s)

Ms Laura Marot
DG MARE, B2
laura.marot@ec.europa.eu

Mr Benoit Marcoux
DG MARE, B2
benoit.marcoux@ec.europa
.eu

Ms Juliette Haziza DGAMPA juliette.haziza@mer.gouv.fr

Mr Julio Moron
OPAGAC
julio.moron@opagac.org

## FRANCE(OT) Head of Delegation

Mr Mafal Thiam
Ministère de la Transition
écologique, de la
Biodiversité, de la Forêt de
la Mer et de la Pêche
mafal.thiam@mer.gouv.fr

#### Alternate

Ms Lucie Orozco

Ministère de la Transition
écologique, de la
Biodiversité, de la Forêt de
la Mer et de la Pêche
lucie.orozco@mer.gouv.fr

#### Advisor(s)

Mr Pierre Issac

DGAMPA

pierre.issac@agriculture.go uv.fr

#### **INDONESIA**

#### **Head of Delegation**

Ms Putuh Suadela Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries putuhsuadela@gmail.com

#### **Alternate**

Ms Riana Handayani Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries daya139@yahoo.co.id

#### Advisor(s)

Mr Indra Jaya Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries indrajaya123@gmail.com

Mr Zaki Mubarok Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries <u>ibusro@gmail.com</u>

#### **IRAN (ISLAMIC REP OF)**

Absent

#### **JAPAN**

#### **Head of Delegation**

Ms Sayako Takeda Fisheries Agency <u>sayako takeda590@maff.g</u> <u>o.jp</u>

#### **Alternate**

Mr Kimiyoshi Hiwatari Fisheries Agency <u>kimiyosi hiwatari190@maff</u> .go.jp

#### Advisor(s)

Ms Yuka Matsuzawa Fisheries Agency <u>yuka matsuzawa450@maff</u> <u>.go.jp</u> Mr Yuichi Tsuda Fisheries Resources Institute tsuda yuichi58@fra.go.jp

Mr Satoshi Nirazuka Fisheries Resources Institute nirazuka satoshi88@fra.go. ip

Mr Takayuki Matsumoto Fisheries Resources Institute <u>matsumoto takayuki77@fr</u> <u>a.go.jp</u>

#### **KENYA**

#### Advisor(s)

Mr Stephen Ndegwa State Department for the Blue Economy and Fisheries ndegwafish@yahoo.com

Mr James Mwaluma
State Department for the
Blue Economy and Fisheries

Ms Gladys Okemwa State Department for the Blue Economy and Fisheries gladysokemwa@gmail.com

#### **KOREA**

#### **Head of Delegation**

Mr Taehoon Won
Ministry of Oceans and
Fisheries
th1608@korea.kr

Ms Soomin Kim
Korea Overseas Fisheries
Cooperation Center
soominkim@kofci.org
MADAGASCAR
Head of Delegation
Mr Mahefa Randriamiarisoa

Ministère de la pêche et de l'économie bleue

sgpt.dp.mrhp@gmail.com

#### **Alternate**

Mr Marolova
Rasolomampionona
Ministère de la pêche et de
l'économie bleue
lovastat.mrhp@gmail.com

#### Advisor(s)

Mr Andrianaivonavalona Rakotoniaina Ministère de la pêche et de l'économie bleue csp-mprh@madagascar-scspeche.mg

Ms Florina Rakotovao Ministère de la pêche et de l'économie bleue rakotovaoflorina@gmail.co m

Mr Lalaina Rakotonaivo WWF Madagascar Irakotonaivo@wwf.mg

## MALAYSIA

#### **Alternate**

Ms Nor Azlin binti Mokhtar Department of Fisheries nor azlin@dof.gov.my

#### Advisor(s)

Mr Muhammad bin Suhaimi Department of Fisheries <u>muhammadshakirin@dof.g</u> <u>ov.mv</u>

#### **MALDIVES**

#### **Head of Delegation**

Mr Hussain Sinan
Ministry of Fisheries and
Ocean Resources
<a href="mailto:hussain.sinan@fisheries.gov">hussain.sinan@fisheries.gov</a>
<a href="mailto:mv">mv</a>

#### **Alternate**

Mr Adam Ziyad

Ministry of Fisheries and Ocean Resources <a href="mailto:adam.ziyad@fisheries.gov.">adam.ziyad@fisheries.gov.</a> mv

Advisor(s)

Ms Maleeha Haleem Ministry of Fisheries and Ocean Resources <u>maleeha.haleem@fisheries.</u> gov.mv

Mr Mohamed Shimal
Maldives Marine Research
Institute
mohamed.shimal@mmri.go
v.mv

Ms Mariyam Shama
Maldives Marine Research
Institute
Mariyam.shama@mmri.gov
.mv

#### **MAURITIUS**

#### **Head of Delegation**

Ms Marie Clivy Lim Shung Ministry of Agro-Industry, Food Security and Fisheries clivilim@yahoo.com

Ms Hanista Jhummun-Foolhea Ministry of Agro-Industry, Food Security and Fisheries anishta.jhummun@gmail.co m

## MOZAMBIQUE Head of Delegation

Mr Cassamo Junior
National Fisheries
Administration (ADNAP)

<u>cassamo.hassane@gmail.co</u>
<u>m</u>

#### Advisor(s)

Mr Avelino Munwane

National Fisheries
Administration (ADNAP)

<u>avelinomunwane@gmail.co</u>

m

Mr Antonio Cuambe
National Fisheries
Administration (ADNAP
<a href="mailto:kechane@gmail.com">kechane@gmail.com</a>

Ms Anastacia Simango
National Fisheries
Administration (ADNAP)
anastacia.simango@gmail.c
om

OMAN Absent

#### **PAKISTAN**

#### **Head of Delegation**

Mr Farhan Khan
Ministry of Maritime Affairs
farhankhan704@gmail.com

#### **Alternate**

Mr Usama Ateeq
Ministry of Maritime Affairs
usamajigz@gmail.com
PHILIPPINES

#### PHILIPPINES

#### **Head of Delegation**

Ms Jennifer g. Viron
Bureau of Fisheries and
Aquatic Resources
jennyviron@bfar.da.gov.ph

Mr Isidro Tanangonan Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources <u>itanangonan@bfar.da.gov.p</u> h

Ms Mary Joy Mabanglo Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources mj.mabanglo@gmail.com

Mr Benjamin Tabios

Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources benjotabios@gmail.com

#### **SEYCHELLES**

#### **Head of Delegation**

Mr Roy Clarisse
Ministry of fisheries and the blue economy
<a href="mailto:rclarisse@gov.sc">rclarisse@gov.sc</a>

#### **Alternate**

Mr Vincent Lucas

Seychelles Fisheries
Authority
Vlucas@sfa.sc

Ms Karyss Auguste
Seychelles Fisheries
Authority
Kauguste@sfa.sc

SOMALIA Absent

## SOUTH AFRICA

#### Alternate

Mr Qayiso Kenneth Mketsu
Department of Forestry,
Fisheries and the
Environment

QMketsu@dffe.gov.za

#### **SRI LANKA**

#### **Head of Delegation**

Ms Kalyani Hewapathirana Department of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources hewakal2012@gmail.com

#### **Alternate**

Mr M.M. Ariyarathne
Department of Fisheries and
Aquatic Resources
mma\_fi@yahoo.com

## SUDAN

Absent

TANZANIA (UNITED REP. OF)

**Head of Delegation** 

Mr Zahor El Kharousy Ministry of Livestock and **Fisheries** 

zahor1m@hotmail.com

Alternate

Mr Emmanuel Sweke Deep Sea Fisheries Authority emmanuel.sweke@dsfa.go. tz

Mr Mathew Silas **Deep Sea Fisheries Authority** mathew.silas@dsfa.go.tz

Mr Daniel Kawiche **Deep Sea Fisheries Authority** daniel.kawiche@dsfa.go.tz

Mr Buriyan Hassan **Deep Sea Fisheries Authority** buriyan.hassan@dsfa.go.tz

Mr Kumbuka Ngaillo

**MYANMAR** 

Mr Myint Zin Htoo myintzinhtoo@gmail.com

Mr Chia-Chun Wu jiachun@ms1.fa.gov.tw Ministry of Livestock and

**Fisheries** 

kumbuka.ngaillo@mlf.go.tz

**THAILAND** 

**Head of Delegation** 

**Pavarot** 

Noranarttragoon

Department of Fisheries pavarotn@gmail.com

**Alternate** 

Mr Teerapong Apaipakdee Department of Fisheries teerapongapai@gmail.com

Advisor(s)

Ms Chonticha Kumyoo Department of Fisheries chonticha.dof@gmail.com

Ms Prompan

Hiranmongkolrat Department of Fisheries prompan.hiranmongkolrat

@gmail.com

Ms Orawan Prasertsoo Department of Fisheries

**INVITED COASTAL STATES** 

Mr Myat Thiha Saw myatthihasaw@gmail.com

**INVITED EXPERTS** 

Dr Shih-Ming Kao kaosm@udel.edu

Mr Ken Chien-Nan Lin chiennan@ms1.fa.gov.tw

**OBSERVERS** 

**DSM-DEUTSCHE STIFTUNG IPNLF-INTERNATIONAL MEERESSCHUTZ** POLE AND LINE

Ms Iris Ziegler **FOUNDATION** iris.ziegler@stiftung-Mr Shiham Adam

meeresschutz.org shiham.adam@ipnlf.org Mr Hilario Murua hmurua@iss-foundation.org

SEAFOOD SUSTAINABILITY

**ISSF-INTERNATIONAL** 

**FOUNDATION** 

orawanp.dof@gmail.com

**UNITED KINGDOM Head of Delegation** 

Mr Marc Owen

Department for **Environment Food and Rural** 

**Affairs** 

Marc.Owen@defra.gov.uk

**Alternate** 

Mr Jonny Peters

Department for **Environment Food and Rural** Affairs

Jonny.Peters@defra.gov.uk

Mr Chris Mees

Mrag

c.mees@mrag.co.uk

Mr Stuart Reeves

Centre for Environment, Fisheries and Aquaculture

Science

stuart.reeves@cefas.gov.uk

**YEMEN Absent** 

**PEW** 

Mr Glen Holmes

gholmes@pewtrusts.org

SFACT-SUSTAINABLE FISHERIES AND

**COMMUNITIES TRUST**Ms Maia Perraudeau

maia.perraudeau@sfact.org

**TOF-The Ocean Foundation** 

Ms Rebecca Scott

rscott@oceanfdn.org

WWF-WORLD WIDE FUND

**FOR NATURE** 

Mr Umair Shahid ushahid@wwf.org.pk

**IOTC CONSULTANT** 

Mr Iago Mosquiera

iago.mosqueira@wur.nl

Paul.DeBruyn@fao.org

**IOTC SECRETARIAT** 

Mr Paul De Bruyn Ms Lauren Nelson

Lauren.Nelson@fao.org

Ms Mirose Govinden

mirose.govinden@fao.org

Ms Claudette Matombe claudette.matombe@fao.or

g

Mr Dan Fu

dan.fu@fao.org

INTERPRETERS

Ms Michelle Searra

searra.michelle@gmail.com

Ms Amanda Forsythe afortsythe@mweb.co.za

Ms Sylvie Nsamba Kaninda emkaninda@gmail.com

Ms Carol Isoux

carolisoux@yahoo.fr

Ms Evelyn Ndirangu-Ngari wangecieve@gmail.com

#### **APPENDIX II**

# AGENDA FOR THE 9<sup>TH</sup> IOTC TECHNICAL COMMITTEE ON MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE

Date: 10-11 May 2024

Location: Bangkok, Thailand (Hybrid)

CoChairs: Ms. Riley Kim Jung-re (Commission Chair) and Dr. Toshihide Kitakado (SC Chair)

- 1. OPENING OF THE SESSION AND ARRANGEMENTS (Co-Chairs)
- 2. ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA AND ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE SESSION (Co-Chairs)
- 3. ADMISSION OF OBSERVERS (Co-Chairs)
- 4. DECISIONS OF THE COMMISSION RELATED TO THE WORK OF THE TECHNICAL COMMITTEE ON MANAGEMENT PROCEDURES (IOTC Secretariat)
  - 4.1 Outcomes of the 7<sup>th</sup> Session of TCMP
- 5. INTRODUCTION TO MSE AND PRESENTATION OF MSE RESULTS
- 6 STATUS OF THE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY EVALUATION/OPERATING MODELS AND ACTIONS NEEDED FOR ADOPTION (Developers)
  - 6.1 Skipjack tuna (Charlie Edwards)
  - 6.2 Swordfish (Thomas Brunel/Iago Mosqueira)
  - 6.3 General Issues
    - 6.3.1 MP implementation, actions and regular implementation review
- 7 FUTURE DIRECTION OF THE TECHNICAL COMMITTEE ON MANAGEMENT PROCEDURES (Co-Chairs)
  - 7.1 Workplan
    - 7.1.1 New timelines
    - 7.1.2 Budget and resources needed for technical developments
    - 7.1.3 External review
  - 7.2 Priorities
  - 7.3 Process and future meetings of TCMP
- 8 ADOPTION OF REPORT (Co-chairs)

# APPENDIX III LIST OF DOCUMENTS

Document	Title
IOTC-2025-TCMP09-01a	Draft: Agenda of the 9th Technical Committee on Management Procedure Meeting
IOTC-2025-TCMP09-01b	Draft: Annotated agenda of the 9th Technical Committee on Management Procedure Meeting
IOTC-2025-TCMP09-02	Draft: List of documents of the 9th Technical Committee on Management Procedure Meeting
IOTC-2025-TCMP09-03	Outcomes of the 7th Technical Committee On Management Procedure
IOTC-2025-TCMP09-04	Development of Management Strategy Evaluation analyses for Indian ocean albacore tuna (Mosqueira I, Hilary R)
IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF01	IOTC MSE Handout
IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF02	Report of the 16th Session of the IOTC Working Party on Methods (Management Strategy Evaluation Task Force)
IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF03	Joint CPUE indices for the bigeye tuna in the Indian Ocean
IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF04	2025 update on running the IOTC Bigeye Tuna Management Procedure for 2024
IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF05	Consideration of Exceptional Circumstances for the Bigeye Tuna MP 2025
IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF06	Proposal for amending the management procedure adopted for the Indian Ocean swordfish and practical aspect for its first implementation
IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF07	MSE Capacity Building Workshop Summary Report
IOTC-2025-TCMP09-INF08	On a Management Procedure for Swordfish (AUS)